

CITY OF SURPRISE BOARDS & COMMISSIONS HANDBOOK



Contents

WELCOME!	3
City Overview	4
Form of Government	5
City Council	5
Appointed Officials	5
Relationships	6
With Council	6
With Staff	6
With Fellow Members	8
With Fellow Boards & Commissions	8
With the Public	8
Eligibility/Application	9
Residency	9
Term	9
Member Selection	9
Vacancies	10
Removal	10
Member Orientation and Training	10
Boards & Commissions Roles	10
Classification of Boards, Commissions & Committees	11
Commissions & Committees	11
Boards	11
Council Expectations	11
Election of Officers	12
Role of Chair/Vice Chair	12
Meetings	12
Quorum	12
Times & Location	12
Attendance	13

Preparation	13
Agenda	13
Minutes	13
Sub-committees & Working Groups	14
Conducting Business	14
Rules of Conduct & Demeanor	14
Parliamentary Rules	18
Rule 1. Powers of the Chair	18
Rule 2. Consent Agenda	19
Rule 3. When the Chair Is in Active Debate	19
Rule 4. One Motion at a Time	19
Rule 5. Substantive Motions	19
Rule 6. Debate	20
Rule 7. Ratification of Actions	20
Rule 8. Withdrawal of Motion	20
Rule 9. Procedural Motions	21
(a) Motions Allowed	21
(b) Order of Priority of Motions	21
Open Meeting Law	27
∩ & ∆	27

WELCOME!

Thank you for your willingness to serve the City of Surprise. As a citizen volunteer, you are a member of a select group appointed by City Council. Your participation personifies citizen involvement in the governing process. By serving on a board or commission you become part of the official family of the City of Surprise. You represent the Mayor and Council and must abide by a number of policies and procedures which govern public bodies. Primary among these are the Open Meeting Law, the City Code that applies to your board or commission, and the Rules contained in this Handbook. Members must expect that all deliberations and recommendations will be reviewed and scrutinized not only by the City Council, but also by the public, media, and other interested parties.

Being a member of a board or commission is not an easy task, but, if done well, it can be very rewarding.

City Overview

Surprise residents enjoy clean, safe neighborhoods, a family-friendly environment and incredible retail and recreational amenities. Surprise is rated one of the top ten-safest cities in the nation and offers top-ranked public and charter schools.

Recreation is big in this beautiful Sonoran-desert community. Surprise Stadium is the Spring Training home of Major League Baseball's Texas Rangers and Kansas City Royals. The Surprise Tennis and Racquet Complex attracts both tennis legends and national tournaments, and the White Tank Mountain Regional Park offers 30,000 acres of outdoor recreation. Plus, the city offers seven gorgeous 18-hole golf courses, an urban fishing lake, and two public aquatic centers.

The Surprise Recreation Campus is where our community comes together for celebratory events including 4th of July fireworks, arts and music festivals and the annual Surprise Party. The city offers a variety of sports and recreation programs for residents of all ages and community centers where youth can play games and indoor sports.

Art is another important focus in Surprise. In addition to having two local art centers, the city has commissioned several public art pieces and invests in various arts and cultural events and programs, including a free concert series called Second Sundays in the Park and the popular Thunderbird Fine Art & Wine Festival.

Surprise has a diversified employment corridor from small home-based businesses to large company headquarters and is focused on growing local jobs. That goal is supported by our AZ TechCelerator business incubator and Beehive co-working space, as well as robust international recruitment strategies and programs that offer soft landing opportunities to international companies looking to locate in the city.

Surprise is the ideal place to live, work and play!

Form of Government

The City of Surprise operates under the Council-Manager form of government. Under this form, the elected governing body is responsible for the legislative function of the municipality, such as establishing policy, passing local ordinances, adopting a budget, appropriating money, and developing an overall vision for the community. Day to day operations for the City are the responsibility of the City Manager.

City Council

In addition to the Mayor, who is elected at-large, there are six other members who are elected from the most current election districts shown on the official election district map on file in the Office of the City Clerk. Each Council Member is elected to a four-year term of office.

Appointed Officials

The City Council appoints three individuals to serve in different functions that support the City Council; Presiding City Court Judge, City Manager and City Clerk.

The Presiding City Court Judge is appointed to a fixed term by City Code and is responsible for all operational matters pertaining to the City Court. As a separate branch of government, the City Court is autonomous, with only the approval of the annual budget within the power of the City Council.

The City Manager serves at the pleasure of Council and is responsible for drafting a balanced budget for Council consideration, and executing the Council approved budget. In addition to supervising daily operations of the City, the City Manager works with elected officials and citizens to plan for the future of the community and to define and carry out the vision of the Council by setting goals and establishing strategies for reaching these goals.

The City Clerk serves at the pleasure of Council and is the official document and record custodian for the City. The Clerk is responsible for assuring the Council, and all the boards and commissions of the City, comply with the notice and agenda requirements of the Open Meeting Law, and assuring the City complies with the public records law. The Clerk also services at the City's chief elections officer.

Relationships

With Council

A good relationship with the City Council is essential. The primary responsibility of boards, commissions, and committees is providing additional avenues of communication between the City Council and the general public. Commission and committee members should keep in mind that only the City Council can establish City policy. It is the City Council's role to receive the recommendations made by commissions and committees, and to consider them as part of the Council's decision making. No matter what one individual's position may be, it is important that each commission or committee member support the recommendations made by the member's commission or committee and, ultimately, the policy decisions of the City Council once the decision is made. This is true even if the recommendation by the commission or committee is not that of the individual member.

Official communications with the City Council should be written and from the entire appointed body. Communications will be forwarded through the Staff Liaison to the City Council and the City Manager's Office. Remember, the role of the Staff Liaison is to *communicate* the position of the commission or committee - not *advocate* on behalf of the commission or committee. Whenever a commission or committee has an item before the City Council, the Chair or a representative of that appointed body is encouraged to attend the City Council meeting to speak to the topic or answer questions.

When an appointed member addresses the City Council at a public meeting, it should be made clear whether or not he/she is speaking on behalf of the board, commission, or committee, or as an individual. If the member is speaking on behalf of a board, commission, or committee, only the majority position of the body should be presented. If the member is expressing his/her own personal viewpoint on a particular subject, it should be stated as such.

With Staff

Each board and commission has a Staff Liaison assigned by the City Manager. The role of the Staff Liaison is principally to coordinate the preparation of the agenda for each meeting, to prepare minutes in accordance with the Open Meeting Law, and to work with the board or commission chair to assure the work of the board or commission is completed in a timely and effective manner.

Just as it is inappropriate for Council to direct work of staff who are under the jurisdiction of the City Manager, so too must members of boards and commissions refrain from doing so. Instead, each Board and Commission should utilize agenda discussions at meetings as a basis for making requests of staff. All board or commission members needing to contact City personnel for information concerning official business should always make the request through the Staff Liaison.

Any action by the board or commission must be consistent with the powers and duties of the board and commission outlined in the ordinance that created the board or commission. This means that no board or commission may on its own, or through city staff, enter into contracts, authorize the expenditure of funds, bind the city to act, or act outside the powers granted by the City Council.

In general, the Staff Liaison will do the following:

- Establish and maintain a positive working relationship with the members:
- Assist with the creation of operating procedures;
- Work with the body to assure the body acts consistent with its established powers and duties, and complies with this handbook;
- Offer advice and recommendations to members as appropriate and when requested;
- Report the boards' and commissions' concerns to the City Manager, who, in turn, will notify Council;
- Provide advice regarding the most effective way of presenting recommendations to City Council, as appropriate;
- Facilitate interaction between boards and commissions as appropriate;
- Make meeting arrangements and prepare and distribute agenda packets to board and commission members on a timely basis;
- Provide members with the background information necessary for making an informed decision;
- Take notes during the meeting and prepare meeting minutes in a timely manner for approval by the board or commission; and
- Provide or otherwise arrange for orientation and training for new members.
- Assure agenda packets are complete, including any attachments, when posted.

With Fellow Members

Cooperation among fellow board, commission, and committee members is essential to success. Building consensus around common goals and objectives, members should first show a willingness to objectively define the issues at hand and then work to reconcile opposing viewpoints. When board and commission members interact positively, the group as a whole will be more effective. Important points to keep in mind in working with others:

- 1. Respect an individual's viewpoint, even though it may be different from your own.
- 2. Allow other members adequate time to present their views before making comments.
- 3. Be open and honest.
- 4. Welcome new members and help them become acquainted with their board, commission, or committee.
- 5. Accept responsibility, voice opinions, be fair and factual.

With Fellow Boards & Commissions

The City Council has authorized the use of "joint" meetings and occasionally has "joint" meetings of more than one board, commission, or committee. When this occurs, each body should focus on its respective advisory responsibilities. The same considerations should be made during "joint" meetings as are followed for relationships with fellow members of the same body.

With the Public

Good relations with the public are vital for all City boards, commission, and committees. In many cases each body serves as a link between the City Council and the public, helping to inform the public, to reconcile opposing viewpoints, and to explain City programs and policies. Appointed members should welcome citizen input at meetings and be considerate of all interests, attitudes, and differences of opinion. Each body provides a channel for citizen expression by listening to comments, opinions, and concerns from the public. Therefore, it is important to be responsive and in tune with the community.

Eligibility/Application

Residency

Most boards and commission members must be residents of Surprise. There are, however, a few exceptions.

Term

Board and commission members are appointed for terms of four years with no term limits. The terms of the members are staggered so that only one half of the board is up for reappointment at any one time. Terms begin on July 1st and end on June 30th, four years later.

Member Selection

Generally, members of board and commissions are appointed through an application process. Applications are available at the City Clerk's Office and can be submitted any time.

When a vacancy in a board or commission is anticipated, the City Clerk will advertise the vacancy. Applications from eligible individuals are forwarded to the City Council's Boards and Commission Subcommittee, who review the applications and interview applicants. The Subcommittee will forward those applicants the subcommittee is recommending for appointment to the full Council. The Council will meet and consider recommendations for appointment at a public meeting. Applicants are appointed by a majority vote of the City Council.

After appointment, but usually immediately following the appointment by Council, the City Clerk administers the Oath of Office. For any newly appointed member not available to participate in the formal swearing in process, the City Clerk will make arrangements to administer the Oath of Office at a more convenient time. The Oath of Office requires the newly appointed member to swear, under oath, to support the Constitution of the United States, laws of the State of Arizona, and all official policies and procedures of the City of Surprise.

Vacancies

If a vacancy in a board or commission is created because of a member's death, resignation, or removal, a new member is appointed to serve for the unexpired portion of the term. If a vacancy in a board or commission is created because a term has expired, a new member is appointed for a full term (4 years). In either event, the same selection and process is used.

Removal

The members of every board and commission serve at the pleasure of City Council. Any member of any board or commission may be removed with or without cause by a majority vote of City Council. At the time of removal, Council may establish a period during which the removed member is ineligible for future appointment. The decision is final and not appealable.

Member Orientation and Training

All members are required to attend an orientation and training workshop during their first term of office. The workshop will be coordinated with Staff Liaisons. Though some members may have previous general board training background and experience, it is important that all members are oriented to the policies and procedures specific to the City of Surprise.

Boards & Commissions Roles

As elected officials, Council recognizes the value boards and commission members bring to the community. Boards and commissions are created by the Council and may be changed, or abolish, at any time.

Boards and commissions are given powers and tasks to perform by Council. These powers and tasks are set out in City Code. A summary of the powers, duties, and tasks for each board or commission is contained in the board or commission specific handouts available through the Staff Liaison. Most boards and commissions also utilize the bi-laws set forth in Section 2-295 of the City Code, a copy of which is also available through the Staff Liaison.

Classification of Boards, Commissions & Committees

Commissions & Committees advise the City Council by making recommendations on public policy. Commissions are perpetual, while committees are gathered for a limited period for a very limited purpose. Examples of commissions include the Arts & Culture, Community and Recreation and Disability Advisory Commissions. An example of a committee is the City's Bond Election Evaluation Committee.

Commissions and Committees are asked to make recommendations based on their own expertise, what they hear from other community members, and based on the information and analysis of specific issues. Although all commission and committee actions and recommendations are subject to the approval by City Council, the Council appoints citizens to these positions because Council trusts that the members will exercise sound, independent judgment and do their best to form advice for the City Council. The City Council will consider recommendations within the parameters of Council's own deliberations. As a result, the City Council can do the following:

- Follow the recommendation of the commission or Committee;
- Request further study;
- Decide to take a different action than what has been recommended:
- Decide not to act at all.

Boards: Boards, unlike commissions and committees, have some decision-making powers within their purview. Examples of boards include the Personnel Appeals, Adjustment and Construction Review, and the City's Trust Fund Boards

Council Expectations

The City Council has the following expectations of its appointed boards and commissions:

- Provide citizens' perspectives on issues;
- Prioritize options for Council and refine recommendations;
- Enable citizens to contribute their expertise to the community;
- Advise Council on policy matters;
- Act in full accordance with all the powers and duties established in City Code: and
- Comply with the Open Meetings Law, laws governing public bodies and the City policies and procedures.

Election of Officers

Every board and commission must select a member to serve as the chair and a member to serve as the vice-chair. This selection must be done each July, or any time there is a chair or vice chair vacancy. If, for any reason, both the chair and vice chair are absent from a meeting, the members who are in attendance at the meeting must select a member to serve as the chair for that meeting. The chair or vice-chair may be removed from their positions as chair or vice-chair at any time by a three-fourths majority vote of the board or commission membership.

Role of Chair/Vice Chair

The chair, or vice chair when the chair is absent, presides over meetings, decides all points of order and procedure, and performs any duties required by law. The chair, or vice chair in the absence of a chair, has the right to make a motion, second any motion, and vote on any matter under consideration of the board or commission.

Meetings

Quorum

A quorum is the number of members needed for there to be a proper meeting of the board or commission. A quorum exists when a majority of the members are present. Vacancies on a board or commission do not count when determining whether or not a quorum exists. If a quorum is not present, the meeting must still be conducted <u>for the purpose of attendance only</u>. No other business can be conducted unless a quorum is present.

Times & Location

Each board and commission must meet at least one time per year. Boards and commissions may have two types of meetings; "Regular" meetings, those meetings scheduled as part of an annual calendar of meetings; and "Special" meetings, those meetings that are called by the chair or Staff Liaison that were not included in the annual calendar of meetings.

Boards and commissions that meet regularly must adopt an annual meeting schedule. Meetings on the schedule are referred to as "Regular" meetings and, unless the adopted calendar states otherwise, Regular meetings must be held at

6:00 pm at City Hall. Boards and commissions may designate a different time and place for the meeting, however, by adopting a Regular meeting schedule.

The chair of each board and commission, or the Staff Liaison as authorized by the City Manager, may call a "Special" meeting. Typically, Special meetings will only be used when the use of a Regular meeting is not practical.

In any event, meetings must be held at a time and a place designed to maximize public engagement in the business of the body.

Attendance

Attendance is very important and must be in person. Calling in (by phone, Skype, Face Time, or otherwise) is not permitted.

If any member is absent for two consecutive meetings, or three meetings in any six month period, or if a member fails to respond to contact from the Staff Liaison, the Staff Liaison will refer the matter to the City Council for consideration and action. Council may remove the member by majority vote. If so removed, the removed member will be ineligible for reappointment to any public body for a period of no less than six months.

Preparation.

Adequate preparation is another requisite for effective membership. The Staff Liaison will provide reports, proposals, and other information to help you make informed decisions. Do not hesitate to request additional information you need to make thoughtful and appropriate decisions.

Agenda

The agenda, and any supporting materials, are created in cooperation with the Staff Liaison, and given to the City Clerk five days prior to the meeting. The Agenda will be posted no later than 24 hours prior to the meeting.

Minutes

Minutes of each meeting will be prepared by the Staff Liaison and must include attendance, record any vote, and otherwise comply with the Open Meeting Law. The City Clerk will post the minutes of each board and commission meeting.

Sub-committees & Working Groups

A subcommittee is a "subgroup" of two or more board or commission members who meet to discuss and to make recommendations on matters that will come to the full body for action. Sub-Committees are not allowed, unless specifically authorized by the City Council. If the majority of a body wishes to use subcommittees, the body should take formal action to submit such request through the Staff Liaison consistent with this Handbook.

A working group is a "subgroup" of two or more board or commission members tasked by the public body to gather information, study and evaluate matters that will be considered by the public body, and report findings back to the public body. Working groups may be formed by a majority vote of the public body. Working groups should <u>not</u> make any recommendations relative to action to be taken by the public body.

Conducting Business

In a nutshell, effective members:

- Attend all meetings.
- Are well prepared for meetings.
- Recognize that serving the public interest is the top priority.
- Recognize that the body must operate in an open and public manner.
- Are knowledgeable about the legislative process and issues affecting the body.
- Examine all available evidence before making a judgment.
- Communicate well and participate in group discussions.
- Are aware that authority to act is granted to the board as a whole, not to individual members.
- Exhibit a willingness to work with the group in making decisions.
- Recognize that compromise may be necessary to reach consensus.

Do not let personal feelings toward other board members or staff interfere with your judgment.

Rules of Conduct & Demeanor

As volunteers, board and commission members represent the City of Surprise. Therefore, they should conduct themselves in an appropriate manner at all times.

While every board or commission tends to have its own "personality" and methods for working together to form recommendations, some of the characteristics that successful boards and commissions have in common include:

- Interest in City issues and a willingness to learn about them;
- Preparing for each meeting by reviewing the agenda packet, knowing the issues to be discussed;
- Steady, consistent attendance and being on time for meetings;
- A sense of open-mindedness, patience, and fairness;
- An ability to envision and consider the long-term effects of a proposed project/issue and to balance those effects with short-term consideration.
- The ability to come to a conclusion, making an informed recommendation.
- Excellent people skills; i.e., respect for one another, respect for differing opinions, reasoning and communicating in a concise and clear manner.
- Ability to work well with staff and community members.

Just as it is inappropriate for Council to direct work of staff who are under the jurisdiction of the City Manager, members of public bodies also are prohibited from doing so. Instead, members should utilize agenda discussions at meetings as a basis for making requests of staff.

Boards and commissions are extensions of the City Council. As such, members must adhere to ethical standards that eliminate disappointment borne of dishonesty, conflicts of interest, unfairness, or illegality. **Preservation of public trust is critical for the preservation of democracy.**

It is the policy of the City of Surprise to uphold, promote, and demand the highest standards of ethics from all of its officials, whether elected or appointed. Accordingly, all members of each board and commission will maintain the following standards:

Rule 1. Act in the Public Interest

Recognizing that stewardship of the public interest must be their primary concern, members will work for the common good of the City of Surprise and not for any private or personal interest, and will assure fair and equal treatment of all persons, claims, and transactions coming before the board or commission.

Rule 2. Comply with the Law

Members will comply with the laws of the nation, the State of Arizona, and the City of Surprise in the performance of their public duties. These laws include, but are not limited to: the Federal and State constitutions, laws pertaining to conflicts of interest, election campaigns, financial disclosures, anti-discrimination, confidentiality/non-disclosure laws, open meeting, City ordinances, and City and City Council policies.

Rule 3. Professional Conduct

The professional and personal conduct of members must be above reproach and devoid of even the appearance of impropriety. Members must refrain from abusive conduct, harassment, personal charges or verbal attacks upon the character or motives of members of Council, boards, commissions, and committees, City staff, or members of the public.

Rule 4. Respect for Process

Members must perform their duties in accordance with the processes and rules of order established by the City Council governing the board or commission.

Rule 5. Conduct of Public Meetings

Members must prepare themselves for public issues; listen courteously and attentively to all public discussions before the body; and focus on the business at hand. Members must refrain from interrupting other speakers, making personal comments not germane to the business of the body, or otherwise interfering with the orderly conduct of meetings.

Rule 6. Decisions Based on Merit

Members must base all decisions on the merits and substance of the matter at hand.

Rule 7. Transparent Governance

Members must publicly share substantive information that is relevant to a matter under consideration by the board/commission which the member may have received from sources outside the public decision-making process.

Rule 8. [Intentionally Omitted]

Rule 9. [Intentionally Omitted]

Rule 10. Positive Work Place Environment

Members must support and maintain a positive and constructive work place environment for City employees, residents, and businesses dealing with the City. Members must recognize the special role of Council appointed board and commission members in dealings with City employees and refrain from creating the perception of inappropriate direction to staff.

Rule 10. Conflict of Interest

Members must be constantly on guard against conflicts of interest, whether real or perceived. Officials must not be involved in discussing or deciding any issue over which the board or commission may have jurisdiction and which may impact a financial or property interest of either the member or a family member (spouse, children, grandparent, grandchildren, in-laws).

If a member believes that a conflict of interest (or even a possible conflict) exists, then the member must disclose the fact as soon as possible on the record. From that point on, the member may not participate in any manner (by discussing, questioning or voting) in that matter. Declaring a conflict and not participating should be recognized as a necessary part of preserving public trust and should not be avoided simply because of delays or inconvenience. Indeed, members should declare possible conflicts to avoid any appearance of impropriety.

Rule 11. Accepting Gifts, Favors or Benefits

The acceptance or solicitation of gifts, favors or benefits by a member in their official capacity should be avoided. "Gifts, favors, or benefits" include event tickets, admission, meals, products, autographs, memorabilia, special celebrity access, and travel expenses, but does not include de minimus tokens of appreciation or for participation such as a pen, pin, plaque of appreciation or award. Gift, favor, or benefit does not include City sponsored or hosted events, or event tickets/admission given to a member when such is necessary for the member to perform the member's function as a board or commission member.

Generally, Arizona law prohibits a member from receiving anything of value or any compensation for any service rendered in connection with that person's duties with the City, or using or attempting to use the member's position to secure anything of value or benefit. See A.R.S. §§38-504 and 38-505.

The acceptance and, specifically, the solicitation of gifts, benefits, or favors either for the member or the member's family or friends, even if not technically in violation of law, will raise the appearance of impropriety. The member should also not accept or solicit any gift, benefit, or favor when such would be advantageous to their political/career aspirations.

In the event of uncertainty, contact the City Attorney.

Parliamentary Rules

Surprise Municipal Code §2-295(15) provides that "Meetings will generally be conducted consistent with Robert's Rules of Order, unless other procedural rules are adopted by City Council." In furtherance of such guidance, the parliamentary rules outlined below will be followed in all meetings of boards, commissions and Committees; keeping the following principles:

- 1. The members must act as a body.
- 2. The body should proceed in the most efficient manner possible.
- 3. The body must act by at least a majority.
- 4. Every member must have an equal opportunity to participate in decision making.
- 5. The rules of procedure must be followed consistently.
- 6. The body's actions should be the result of a decision on the merits and not a manipulation of the procedural rules.

Rule 1. Powers of the Chair

The Chair has the following powers:

- a) To rule motions in or out of order, including any motion patently offered for obstructive or dilatory purposes;
- To determine whether a speaker has gone beyond reasonable standards of courtesy in his or her remarks and to entertain and rule on objections from other members on this ground;
- c) To entertain and answer questions of parliamentary law or procedure;
- d) To call a brief recess at any time;

e) To adjourn in an emergency.

Comment: A decision by the Chair under (a), (b) or (c) may be appealed to the board/commission upon motion of any member, pursuant to Rule 8(b). Such a motion is in order immediately after a decision under (a),(b) or (c) is announced and at no other time. The member making the motion need not be recognized by the presiding officer, and the motion if timely made may not be ruled out of order.

Rule 2. Consent Agenda

The board/commission may designate approval of minutes a part of a "consent agenda." No other items should be on "consent".

Rule 3. When the Chair Is in Active Debate

If the Chair becomes actively engaged in extended debate on a particular proposal, the Chair may designate another member to preside over the debate. The Chair will resume presiding as soon as action on the matter is concluded.

Comment: Good leadership depends, to a certain extent, on not taking sides during a debate. On a small board this may not always be feasible or desirable; yet, an unfair advantage accrues to the side whose advocate controls access to the floor. This rule is designed to ensure even-handed treatment to both sides during a heated debate. Ordinarily, if the Chair is leading the meeting, he or she should ask the Vice Chair to preside in this situation. But, if that person also engaged in the debate, the Chair should feel free to call on some other member in order to achieve the purpose of this rule.

Rule 4. One Motion at a Time

A member may make only one substantive motion at a time.

Comment: None.

Rule 5. Substantive Motions

A substantive motion is a motion to take action on the principal item and is out of order while another substantive motion is pending. In other words, a substantive motion is any motion other than the procedural motions listed in Rule 8. A substantive motion may deal with any subject within the board/commission's

legal powers, duties, and responsibilities.

Comment: This rule sets forth the basic principle of parliamentary procedure that distinct issues will be considered and dealt with one at a time, and a new proposal may not be put forth until action on the preceding one has been concluded. The term substantive motion is used here to underscore the distinction between this type of motion and the various procedural motions listed in Rule 8.

Rule 6. Debate

The Chair will state the motion and then open the floor to debate on it. The Chair will preside over the debate according to the following general principles:

- (a) The maker of the motion is entitled to speak first;
- (b) A member who has not spoken on the issue will be recognized before someone who has already spoken;
- (c) To the extent possible, the debate will alternate between proponents and opponents of the measure.

Comment: None.

Rule 7. Ratification of Actions

To the extent permitted by law, the board/commission may ratify actions taken on its behalf but without its prior approval. A motion to ratify is a substantive motion.

Comment: Ratification of actions taken on the board/commission's behalf but without its prior approval is permitted under these rules, to the extent that such after-the-fact approval of actions is legally allowed. The principle behind the motion to ratify is that an assembly may subsequently approve what it could have authorized. This rule treats the motion to ratify as a substantive proposal rather than as a procedural motion, since a ratification is in effect an after-the-fact substantive action by the board/commission concerning something that was done without board/commission approval when advance authorization should have been obtained.

Rule 8. Withdrawal of Motion

A motion may be withdrawn by the maker at any time before it is amended or

before the Chair puts the motion to a vote, whichever occurs first.

Comment: This rule prohibits withdrawing motions after they have been amended. Once a motion has been amended, it is no longer the same motion as was made by the maker, so it is no longer his or hers to withdraw.

Rule 9. Procedural Motions

(a) Motions Allowed. In addition to substantive proposals, only the following procedural motions, and no others, are permitted. Unless otherwise noted, each motion is debatable, may be amended, and requires a majority of the votes cast, a quorum being present, for adoption. Procedural motions are in order while a substantive motion is pending and at other times, except as otherwise noted.

Comment: The following enumeration of procedural motions is exhaustive; if a procedural option is not on the list, then it is not available. Procedural motions are frequently used to "act upon" a substantive motion by amending it, delaying consideration of it, and so forth. Several procedural motions can be entertained in succession without necessarily disposing of the previous procedural motion. The order of priority establishes which procedural motion yields to which—that is, which procedural motion may be made and considered while another one is pending.

(b) Order of Priority of Motions. In order of priority (if applicable), the procedural motions are:

Motion 1. To Appeal a Procedural Ruling of the Chair. A decision of the Chair ruling a motion in or out of order, determining whether a speaker has gone beyond reasonable standards of courtesy in his or her remarks, or entertaining and answering a question of parliamentary law or procedure may be appealed to the board/commission. This appeal is in order immediately after such a decision is announced and at no other time. The member making the motion need not be recognized by the Chair and the motion, if timely made, may not be ruled out of order.

Comment: This motion allows the ruling of the Chair on certain procedural matters to be appealed to the whole board/commission. This appeal must be made as soon as the Chair's decision is announced, so this motion is accorded the highest priority.

Motion 2. To Adjourn. This motion may be made only at the conclusion of board/commission consideration of a pending substantive matter; it may not interrupt deliberation of a pending matter. A motion to or adjourn ends the current meeting to a time and place certain and establishes a specified time and place for the meeting to reconvene.

Comment: Since the number of members is small and procedures are available to limit debate, Motion 2 allows both debate and amendment, but specifies the motion is in order only when consideration of a pending matter has concluded. If the board/commission wants to adjourn before completing final action on a matter, it must, prior to adjourning, first temporarily conclude its consideration of that matter. This is done with one of three motions: to defer consideration of the matter, to postpone the matter to a certain time or day, or to refer the matter to a committee. Only as a last resort should the board/commission use a motion to suspend the rules, in order to allow the motion to adjourn to interrupt deliberation on the matter.

Motion 3. To Take a Brief Recess. This motion is made when a member wishes to take a short break during the meeting, but does not end the meeting.

Comment: This motion allows the board/commission to pause briefly in its proceedings and should not be confused with the motion to adjourn to a time and place certain, which is a form of the motion to adjourn under these rules. Motion 3 is a "motion to take a brief recess" rather than a "motion to recess" or "motion to adjourn." Since the number of board/commission members is small, and procedures are available to limit debate, debate is allowed on this motion. A motion to take a brief recess is in order at any time except when a motion to appeal a procedural ruling of the Chair or a motion to adjourn is pending.

Motion 4. Call to Follow the Agenda. This motion would require the agenda be taken in order, prohibiting the Chair from taking items out of order. The motion must be made at the first reasonable opportunity, or the right to make it is waived for the out-of-order item in question.

Comment: This motion may be debated. Unless the motion is made when the item of business that deviates from the agenda is proposed, the right to insist on following the agenda is waived for that item.

Motion 5. To Suspend the Rules. The board/commission may not suspend provisions of the rules that state requirements imposed by law on the board/commission. For adoption, the motion requires a vote equal to two-thirds of the actual membership of the board/commission, excluding vacant seats.

Comment: This motion is in order when the board/commission wishes to do something that it may legally do but cannot accomplish without violating its own rules. The motion permits the board/commission to exercise greater flexibility and perhaps informality than adhering strictly to what the rules might allow. A motion to suspend the rules requires approval by two-thirds of the actual membership of the board/commission to pass. Note that the Chair and members who are absent from the meeting are counted for purposes of determining two-thirds of the board/commission, but vacant seats are excluded in making the two-thirds determination.

Motion 6. To Go into Executive Session. The board/commission may go into Executive session only for one or more of the permissible purposes listed in A.R.S. §38-431.03 The motion to go into Executive Session must cite the purpose of the Executive Session and must be adopted at an open meeting.

Comment: The requirements for this motion are found in A.R.S. §38-431.03(A), which permits Executive Session only for 7 topics. Those are:

- 1. Discussion or consideration of employment, assignment, appointment, promotion, demotion, dismissal, salaries, disciplining or resignation of a public officer, appointee or employee of any public body, except that, with the exception of salary discussions, an officer, appointee or employee may demand that the discussion or consideration occur at a public meeting. The public body shall provide the officer, appointee or employee with written notice of the executive session as is appropriate but not less than twenty-four hours for the officer, appointee or employee to determine whether the discussion or consideration should occur at a public meeting.
- 2. Discussion or consideration of records exempt by law from public inspection, including the receipt and discussion of information or testimony that is specifically required to be maintained as confidential by state or federal law.
- 3. Discussion or consultation for legal advice with the attorney or attorneys of the public body.
- 4. Discussion or consultation with the attorneys of the public body in order to consider its position and instruct its attorneys regarding the public body's position regarding contracts that are the subject of negotiations, in pending or contemplated litigation or in settlement discussions conducted in order to avoid or resolve litigation.

- 5. Discussions or consultations with designated representatives of the public body in order to consider its position and instruct its representatives regarding negotiations with employee organizations regarding the salaries, salary schedules or compensation paid in the form of fringe benefits of employees of the public body.
- 6. Discussion, consultation or consideration for international and interstate negotiations or for negotiations by a city or town, or its designated representatives, with members of a tribal board/commission, or its designated representatives, of an Indian reservation located within or adjacent to the city or town.
- 7. Discussions or consultations with designated representatives of the public body in order to consider its position and instruct its representatives regarding negotiations for the purchase, sale or lease of real property.

Motion 7. To Divide a Complex Motion and Consider It by Paragraph. The motion is in order whenever a member wishes to consider and vote on subparts of a complex motion separately.

Comment: This motion is debatable.

Motion 8. Motion for the Previous Question. The motion is not in order until every member has had an opportunity to speak once and there has been either at least <u>15</u> minutes of debate or debate has become repetitive.

Comment: With small boards, a minimum period of debate on every proposal that comes before it strikes a superior balance between efficiency and effective representation by all board/commission members. Since every member will have an opportunity to speak, the debate may be ended by a majority vote. Fifteen minutes is merely a suggested minimum period of time. This rule avoids the practice followed by some boards of allowing any member to end debate by simply saying "call the question," without the board/commission actually taking a vote on that procedural issue. Such a practice is contrary to regular parliamentary procedures. In addition, such a practice allows individual members to impose their will unilaterally on the group, in defiance of the principle of majority rule on which these rules are based.

Motion 9. To Postpone to a Certain Time or Day. If consideration of a motion has been postponed, a new motion with the same effect cannot be introduced

while the postponed motion remains pending. A member who wishes to revisit the matter must either wait until the specified time, or move to suspend the rules.

Comment: This motion allows the board/commission to postpone consideration to a specified time or day and is appropriate when more information is needed or the deliberations are likely to be lengthy. Note the restriction on making a new motion with the same effect while a postponed motion remains pending.

Motion 10. To Refer a Matter to a Sub-Committee. The board/commission may vote to refer an item on the agenda to a sub-committee for study and recommendations. Sixty days or more after a substantive motion has been referred to a sub-committee, a member may compel consideration of the item by the entire board/commission, whether or not the committee has reported the matter to the board/commission by requesting the matter be placed back on the board/commission agenda.

Comment: The right of the maker to compel consideration by the full board/commission after a specified period of time prevents using the motion as a mechanism to defeat a proposal by referring it to a subcommittee that is willing to "sit" on it.

Motion 11. To Amend.

- (a) An amendment to a motion must be pertinent to the subject matter of the motion. An amendment is improper if adoption of the motion with that amendment added would have the same effect as rejection of the original motion. A proposal to substitute completely different wording for a motion or an amendment will be treated as a motion to amend.
- (b) A motion may be amended, and that amendment may be amended, but no further amendments may be made until the last-offered amendment is disposed of by a vote.
- (c) Any amendment to a proposed legislative action (resolution/ordinance) must be reduced to writing before the vote on the amendment is taken.

Comment: This motion is similar to a traditional motion to amend except for the additional requirement to write down amendments to legislation. The restriction on amendments stated in subpart (a), second sentence, of the provisions concerning this motion should be read narrowly; it is intended only to prevent an

amendment that merely negates the provisions of the original motion. The intent of such an amendment can be achieved in a simpler and more straightforward manner by the defeat of the original proposal. Pertinent amendments that make major substantive changes in the original motion are quite proper.

Some board/commissions allow a "substitute motion" when major changes in a motion are proposed. Such a motion is, in effect, a type of amendment. To avoid confusion, "substitute motions" are not allowed under these rules. All proposals for changes in a motion or in an amendment are treated as motions to amend, no matter how major their potential effect.

Subpart (b) of the rules governing this motion limits the number of proposed amendments that may be pending at one time to two, in order to reduce confusion. Amendments are voted on in reverse order; that is, the last-offered amendment, which would amend the first amendment, is voted on first. Once the last-offered of the two pending amendments is disposed of, an additional amendment may be offered.

Subpart (c) of the rules for this motion imposes an additional writing requirement for amendments to legislative actions. The rule assumes that amendments to proposed ordinances, like the ordinances themselves, should be in written form before they are voted on, both because of the importance of ordinances and to make it easier to maintain the required ordinance book and the minutes of the board/commission accurately. Similarly, amendments to orders, policies, and resolutions should be in written form before they are voted on, because of their significance and to make it easier to record them in the minutes.

Some board/commissions may have a practice of requiring the person making the original motion to approve of any proposed amendments to that motion. Such a practice is not recommended. Once a motion has been offered to the board/commission, it is up to the board/commission to decide whether or not it should be changed by amendment. If the person making the motion does not favor a proposed amendment, he or she is free to vote against it. And so long as the original motion has not been voted on and no amendment to it has passed, the original maker of the motion is free under these rules to withdraw it (see Rule 8). If a motion has been withdrawn, the board/commission members are generally free to make their own separate motions on the same subject.

Motion 12. To Reconsider. The board/commission may vote to reconsider its action on a matter. The motion to do so must be made by a member who voted with the prevailing side (the majority side except in the case of a tie; in that case the "nos" prevail) and at the meeting during which the original vote was taken,

including any continuation of that meeting through adjournment to a time and place certain. The motion cannot interrupt deliberation on a pending matter, but is in order at any time before final adjournment of the meeting.

Comment: To avoid placing a measure in limbo, these rules restrict the availability of the motion to the same meeting as the original vote, including any continuation of that meeting if it is recessed, or adjourned to a time and place certain.

Open Meeting Law

The Open Meeting Law was enacted in 1962 to assure actions taken by the government be done in the open. The Act was adopted to promote accountability of public officials, to encourage public participation, and build trust between local government and its citizenry.

The core provisions of the Open Meeting Law state:

"All meetings of any public body shall be public meetings and all persons so desiring shall be permitted to attend and listen to the deliberations and proceedings." A.R.S. §38-431.01(A)

"It is the public policy of this state that meetings of public bodies be conducted openly and that notices and agendas be provided for such meetings which contain such information as is reasonable? necessary to inform the public of the matters to be discussed or decided." A.R.S. §38-431.09

Q&A

Who is a "public official"?

Anyone who serves on a City Council, or serves on any board or commission appointed by the City Council, or who serves on any committee or subcommittee appointed by the City Council and whose purpose is to make a recommendation to the City Council. A.R.S. §38-431(1) and (6)

What constitutes a meeting?

A meeting occurs any time a majority of public officials from the same public body (be it a Council, board, commission or committee) communicate about an item within the jurisdiction of the public body. A.R.S.§38-431(4). This can

happen through technology (facebook, twitter, email, text messages), in a series of meetings between 1 or more members (also called "serial meetings"), or in private meetings with City staff members. To be safe — **any** discussion about the business of the public body should happen **only** at an open public meeting.

What is included in the Agenda?

The agenda must include a description of the item being discussed that will provide reasonable notice to the public of the item being discussed or decided. A.R.S. §38-431.09

Who prepares and posts the agenda?

The Staff Liaison will prepare a meeting agenda, making sure the item/s being discussed are within the scope of the board/commission. The City Clerk will post the agenda in accordance with the Open Meeting Law. The agenda must be posted at least 24 hours before the meeting in order to comply with the Open Meeting Law. A.R.S. §38-431.02 (C)

In what way may the public participate in a meeting?

The public has the right to attend, listen and even record the meeting (video or audio). Council expects every public body to provide an opportunity for public input, including through "call to the public". The public never has the right to disrupt the meeting, however.

What is an executive session?

An executive session is a lawfully permitted session for a public body to meet in a closed session -for discussion only - for very limited purposes. A.R.S. §38-431.03(D). Those purposes are:

- 1. Personnel (with proper notice to the employee);
- 2. Records exempt by law from public inspection (e.g. medical records);
- 3. Legal advice from the body's attorney;
- 4. Litigation and contract negotiations;
- 5. International, interstate and tribal negotiation;
- 6. Purchase, sale, or lease of real property.

No vote or official action can be taken in an executive session.

Can a board or commission meet in executive session?

Yes, as long as the item is properly on the agenda, and a majority of members vote to recess into executive session. Most boards and commissions, however, will not have the occasion to recess into an executive session.

Who takes the minutes for board/commission meetings?

The Staff Liaison will take minutes, and gives them to the City Clerk who posts them in accordance with the Open Meeting Law. For boards and commissions, minutes must include:

- The date, time and place of the meeting;
- Identify the members present or absent;
- A general description of the matters considered (that is what was discussed); and
- A description of the legal action taken.

